1987

Graco Fishing and Rental Tools v. Ironwood Exploration, Inc. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

Plaintiffs/Respondents Graco Fishing and Rental Tools, Inc. and I. G. Specialty Machine Shop (collectively referred to as "Graco" herein) seek payment through lien foreclosure from Defendants/Appellants Ironwood Exploration, Inc., R. D. Poindexter, Horizon Oil & Gas Company, William H. Walton and Arden A. Anderson (collectively referred to as "Ironwood" herein), the lessees of an oil well location, for the value of equipment it rented, sold and furnished to Ironwood's oil well drilling contractor in connection with the drilling of an oil well at said location. Although there was no contract between Graco and Ironwood, Graco seeks imposition and foreclosure of a lien on Ironwood's leasehold property interest in the location as to a portion of its claim, and a judgment against Ironwood on the theory of quantum meruit and/or under the contractor's bond statutes as to the balance.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The lower court imposed a lien on Ironwood's interest as to a portion of Graco's claims and ordered foreclosure thereof; Ironwood appeals from that judgment. The lower court also awarded Graco attorney fees and Ironwood appeals from that award. The lower court denied a portion of Graco's claims based upon its theories of quantum meruit and/or violation of the contractor's bond statute; Graco cross-appeals from denial of those claims.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Ironwood seeks reversal of all or a portion of the judgment rendered against it, a reversal of all or a portion of the

attorney fee award against it, and entry of judgment in its favor as a matter of law. Ironwood further seeks affirmance of the lower court's denial of the remainder of Graco's claims.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Ironwood raises the following issues on this appeal:

1. Whether the mechanics' lien statutes (§ 38-1-1, et seq., Utah Code Annotated (1953, as amended)) entitle Graco to recover from the lessee of an oil well location charges incurred incident to rental of equipment, sale of equipment not consumed on the project, transportation charges, or charges for repair of rented equipment.

2. Whether the attorney's fees provisions of the mechanics' lien statutes (§ 38-1-18, Utah Code Annotated (1953, as amended)) entitle Graco to an award of all attorney's fees incurred where it prevailed on only a portion of its claims and/or the fees were incurred in prosecution of matters other than lien foreclosure.

Graco, on cross-appeal, raises the issues of whether the contractor's bond statutes (§ 14-2-1, et seq., Utah Code Annotated (1953, as amended)) apply to rental services provided to a third party and/or whether the doctrine of unjust enrichment applies to such rental services.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In lieu of a record on appeal, the parties have stipulated to the facts and have submitted an Agreed Statement of Record on Appeal which has been approved by the District Court.¹

Ironwood was the owner of an oil and gas lease covering the SW $\frac{1}{4}$ NW $\frac{1}{4}$ of Section 12, Township 5 South, Range 4 West, Uintah Special Base and Meridian, in Duchesne County, Utah (the "Leasehold" herein) and other lands.² (R.1) On November 23, 1983, Ironwood entered into a Drilling Bid Proposal and Footage Drilling Contract (Ex."A") with Lantz Drilling and Exploration Company, Inc. ("Lantz" herein) for the drilling of various oil and gas wells, including a well on the Leasehold known as the Ute Tribal No. 12-5 Well or the Gulf Foy 12-5 Well (the "Well" herein). (R.2)

Thereafter, Lantz entered into a rental subcontract with Graco. (R.3) At various times between December 15, 1983 and January 17, 1984, Graco rented equipment to Lantz for its use in

¹References to the stipulated facts are to the pertinent paragraph of the Agreed Statement of the Record on Appeal, designated by an "R." (i.e. R.1, R.5, etc.); references to exhibits are to the exhibits attached to the Agreed Statement of the Record on Appeal, designated "Ex." (i.e. Ex."A", Ex."D", etc.) and also to the Addendum hereto designated "Add." (i.e. Add."1", Add."3", etc.).

²Prior to and at the time Graco provided the services which are the subject of this appeal, Ironwood was the sole owner of said lease, was the designated operator thereof, and entered into a contract with Lantz Drilling and Exploration, Inc. for the drilling of a well thereon. After Graco provided the services to said well, Ironwood assigned all of its interest to the remaining Defendants/Appellants. However, since such assignment was subject to any claims Graco may have had at the time, no differentiation is made between Ironwood and the other Defendants/Appellants for purposes of this appeal.

drilling the Well, for which Graco billed Lantz the sum of \$65.50 (Ex."B"), \$19,766.36 (Ex."C;" Add. "1"), \$10,035.32 (Ex."D"), and \$632.25 (Ex."E"), a total of \$30,499.43.³ Lantz did not pay said invoices and, on April 3, 1984, Graco timely filed a Notice of Lien (Ex."F") on the Well in the amount of \$19,766.36 (being the amount of the Ex."C" invoice). (R.4) A timely Notice of Lien was not filed by Graco with respect to the remaining invoiced amounts, which total \$10,733.07. (Id.) Lantz did not furnish a bond to assure payment of its subcontractors. (R.5) Lantz has not paid any portion of the invoices and has been adjudicated a Chapter 11 Bankrupt in a proceeding in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Texas. (R.6) Ironwood has not paid Graco any portion of the amounts due from Lantz under the Graco invoices but has paid Lantz, or its creditors having valid liens against its Leasehold, all but \$10,345.41 of the amount due under the contract between Ironwood and Lantz. (R.7)

On May 7, 1984, Graco initiated this action in the District Court, seeking judgment against Ironwood in the amount of \$30,433.93 under three causes of action: (1) imposition of a lien on the Well and its foreclosure, (2) unjust enrichment, and (3) failure to require a bond under § 14-2-2, Utah Code Annotated (1953, as amended). (R.8) Following the filing of cross motions for summary judgment (R.9 and R.10; Exs."G" and "H"), the District Court entered its Ruling (Ex."I") disallowing Graco's

³The parties agree that Exhibits "B", "C", "D" and "E" accurately reflect the items furnished by Graco and the value thereof.

unjust enrichment and contractor's bond claims, but finding that Graco is entitled to a lien against the Well, and foreclosure thereof, in the amount of its Notice of Lien, \$19,766.36; the Court also found that Graco was entitled to an award of attorney's fees. (R.11) Thereafter, Graco's counsel submitted Affidavits of Attorney's Fees and Costs (Ex."J") and the Court ultimately awarded Graco attorney's fees in the amount of \$3,798.75, being the entire amount shown by such Affidavits. (R.14) Such Affidavits do not differentiate between attorney's fees incurred in prosecuting the cause of action on which Graco was successful and those on which it was not. (See Ex."J").

ARGUMENT

I. GRACO IS NOT ENTITLED TO A LIEN FOR THE SERVICES IT PROVIDED

As noted in the Statement of Facts, the district court allowed recovery on Graco's mechanics' lien claim in the amount of \$19,766.36 but denied recovery on its unjust enrichment or quantum meruit and contractor's bond claims. (R.11; Ex. "I") That ruling is based upon Graco's Notice of Lien (Ex. "F") which relates only to the charges reflected on Graco's December 30, 1983 invoice, number 002830 (the "Invoice" herein; Ex. "C;" Add. "1"). Therefore, the following discussion considers only the charges on that Invoice.⁴

A review of the Invoice shows that the \$19,766.36 total can be broken into four different categories of charges: (1) rental

⁴The charges reflected on the remaining invoices (Exhibits "B," "D," and "E") are the subject of Graco's cross-appeal and are not addressed here.

of equipment: \$10,039.08, including tax; (2) sale of equipment: \$5,919.14, including tax; (3) transportation charges: \$2,712.14; and (4) equipment repairs and inspection: \$1,096.00. The following discussion demonstrates that none of those charges falls within the mechanics' lien laws.

1. Rental Charges. As noted above, the Invoice includes \$10,039.08 in charges for the rental of equipment used in connection with the drilling of the Well. Rentals are not, however, among those categories of services which will support the imposition of a mechanics' lien in connection with the development of an oil well.

Prior to 1981, the mechanics' lien laws provided in pertinent part as follows:⁵

[1] Contractors, subcontractors and all persons performing any services or furnishing any materials used in the construction, alteration, or improvement of any building or structure or improvement to any premises in any manner; [2] all persons who shall do work or furnish materials for the prospecting, development, preservation or working of any mining claim, mine, quarry, oil or gas well, or deposit; [3] and licensed architects and engineers and artisans who have furnished designs, plats, plans, maps, specifications, drawings, estimates of cost, surveys or superintendence, or who have rendered other like professional service, or bestowed labor, [4] shall have a lien upon the property upon or concerning which they have rendered service, performed labor or furnished materials, for the value of the service rendered, labor performed or materials furnished by each respectively,

⁵ Bracketed numbers have been inserted to facilitate the following discussion.

§ 38-1-3, Utah Code Annotated (1953, as amended) (Add. "2"). As noted by the court in Stanton Transportation Company vs. Davis, 341 P.2d 207, 9 Utah 2d 184 (1959), that statute reflects a compilation made by the Code Commission of four separate statutes as they existed in 1933.⁶ Id., 341 P.2d 209. In 1981, the Utah State Legislature amended the above statute⁷ to provide as follows (underlined words were inserted by the amendment and bracketed numbers are again inserted to facilitate discussion):

[1] Contractors, subcontractors and all persons performing any services or furnishing or renting any materials or equipment used in the construction, alteration, or improvement of any building or structure or improvement to any premises in any manner; [2] all persons who shall do work or furnish materials for the prospecting, development, preservation or working of any mining claim, mine, quarry, oil or gas well, or deposit; [3] and licensed architects and engineers and artisans who have furnished designs, plats, plans, maps, specifications, drawings, estimates of cost, surveys or superintendence, or who have rendered other like professional service, or bestowed labor, [4] shall have a lien upon the property upon or concerning which they have rendered service, performed labor or furnished or rented materials or equipment for the value of the service rendered, labor performed or materials or equipment furnished or rented by each respectively,

⁶A review of the Compiled Laws of Utah, 1917, discloses that the language following [1] was derived from § 3722, the language following [2] was derived from §§ 3731 and 3732, the language following [3] and [4] was derived from § 3722, and the provisions of § 3747 were apparently deleted as being included in the language following [1].

⁷The statute was further amended in 1987 but that amendment has no effect on this matter since Graco's lien claim, if any it has, arose prior thereto.

As can be seen, the sole purpose of the amendment was to insert provisions pertaining to the "renting" of "equipment." We conclude, therefore, that by passing the amendment, the legislators have collectively acknowledged that in their judgment the statute prior to the amendment did not cover rentals.

As noted above, the statute is composed of what were originally four separate statutes. It is also to be noted that the legislature inserted its amendment only in the language which originated in former § 3722, C.L.U. 1917 (following [1] and [4]) i.e., that portion which relates to services performed by persons involved in the construction, alteration, or improvement of buildings or premises. No amendment was made to the second portion which originated from former § 3731 (following [2]) which relates to services rendered in connection with the development of oil and gas wells and which is obviously the operative portion with respect to Graco's claim. Since the legislature clearly recognized that the renting of equipment was not previously covered by the statute, and since it saw fit to insert its amendment only in the first portion thereof, it must be concluded that the legislature did not intend to include the renting of equipment in connection with liens pertaining to the development of oil and gas wells.

In Stanton Transportation Company vs. Davis, supra, the court carefully analyzed the rules of legislative interpretation to be applied in construing the mechanics' lien laws:

While it is true that our statutes are to be liberally construed to give effect to their purpose and to promote justice, it is equally true that they should not be

distorted beyond the intent of the legislature. This principle is particularly applicable in a situation of this kind where a liability is imposed upon the property owner beyond what he contracted to bear for the improvement of his property. In order to impose upon him such additional burdens the law must clearly spell out the responsibility.

341 P.2d 210 (footnote citations omitted; emphasis added). Thus, this Court has expressly stated that the legislature must clearly and unequivocally express its intent if the lien laws are to be extended to additional applications. Since the legislature only amended as to the first portion of the statute, it cannot be said that it also intended to amend the remainder.

2. Equipment Sales. The Invoice also includes charges totaling \$5,919.14, including taxes, for the sale of equipment used in the drilling process. It is again respectfully submitted that such charges are not included within the lien laws.

The Invoice shows that five lengths of drill pipe were sold to Lantz for \$5,379.75, plus tax. Drill pipe, by its very nature, is removed from the well bore upon completion of the hole and is taken away from the site.⁸

The lien statute applies only to "materials" which are actually consumed in the project. In Stanton, supra, the same situation existed. There, a supplier sold "wrenches, screwdrivers, and other tools, parts, wire brooms and supplies" to the driller but the Stanton court disallowed a lien for those items:

⁸We do not know what the three gaskets shown on the Invoice were used for but, presumably, they also would have been removed upon completion of the drilling.

The statute was purposed to protect a contractor or laborer from loss for labor or materials actually used upon the job, but was not intended to permit one to furnish himself with permanent equipment while working on a job and claim a lien on that property . . . [T]he statute contemplates that the material to be lienable must be consumed in its use on the property.

Id., 341 P.2d 211 (emphasis added). The lien claimant has "the burden of showing just what materials were furnished and the extent to which they were consumed upon the property upon which he claims a lien." (Id.) Thus, Graco had the burden of showing that the equipment it purchased was actually consumed on the job and it has not done so. In fact, general knowledge supports a conclusion that it was not so consumed.

3. Transportation Charges. The third category of expenses shown on the Invoice are for transportation charges in the amount of \$2,712.14. Again, such charges are not such items as will support the imposition of the lien under the statute. First, they relate to the rental and sale of equipment which has already been demonstrated as not supporting a lien. If the objects which were transported will not support a lien, then obviously the transportation itself will not.

Assuming arguendo, however, that the rental and/or sales charges will support a lien, transportation charges relating thereto still will not. This issue is also put to rest by Stanton, supra. In that case, Stanton Transportation attempted to impose a lien for transporting a drilling rig to a well site. After analyzing the mechanics' lien statute, the Stanton court disallowed the lien for the transportation charges, again on the

basis that the statute did not specifically authorize a lien for such charges and they were not for materials which were actually consumed in the project. 341 P.2d 210.

4. Repair and Inspection Charges. Finally, the Invoice includes charges totaling \$1,096.00 for repairs to and inspection of the equipment. Again, Graco has failed to carry its burden as required by the Stanton court of showing that such charges relate to materials which are the proper subject of a lien. That failure alone would be sufficient to disallow the lien. However, it can also be presumed that the charges relate to the repair and inspection of the rented equipment since there would be no reason for Graco to repair and inspect equipment which did not belong to it. Thus, the services were not rendered to benefit Ironwood's property but rather to benefit Graco's interest in its own property. Clearly, charges incurred for protection of its own property will not support a lien against Ironwood's property.

II. GRACO IS NOT ENTITLED TO AN AWARD OF
ATTORNEY'S FEES ON ISSUES ON
WHICH IT DID NOT PREVAIL

As noted in the Statement of Facts, the district court awarded Graco attorney's fees in the amount of \$3,798.75, which was the entire amount claimed by Graco as shown by affidavits submitted by its counsel. (Ex. "J;" Adds. "4" and "5") Such affidavits themselves show, however, that the fees claimed do not relate only to the mechanics' lien claims on which judgment was entered in Graco's favor but relate also to issues upon which Graco did not prevail. Fees for the latter were improperly included in the award.

Graco claims its attorney's fees under § 38-1-18, Utah Code Annotated (1953, as amended), which provides:

In any action brought to enforce any lien under this chapter the successful party shall be entitled to recover a reasonable attorney's fee, to be fixed by the court, which shall be taxed as costs in the action.

Ironwood concedes that the question of reasonableness of an attorney fee award generally falls within the broad discretion of the trial court but submits that the award in this case was an abuse of that discretion and was not supported by facts before the court.

Attorney's fees may be recovered only for that portion of a case for which they are contractually or statutorily allowed. "[L]iability for payment of attorney's fees extends only to the amount necessary for the enforcement of the contract." Nelson vs. Newman, 583 P.2d 601, 604 (Utah, 1978). "A party is . . . entitled only to those fees resulting from its principal cause of action for which there is a contractual (or statutory) obligation for attorney's fees." Utah Farm Production Credit Association vs. Cox, 627 P.2d 62, 66 (Utah, 1981). Thus, in Stubbs vs. Hemmert, 567 P.2d 168 (Utah, 1977), attorney fees were allowed on the successful resolution of a foreclosure claim for which there was a contractual obligation to pay attorney's fees but were denied on the unsuccessful defense of a counterclaim for which there was no such obligation. Id., 567 P.2d 171. And in Imperial-Yuma Production vs. Hunter, 609 P.2d 1329 (Utah, 1980), attorney's fees were denied in their entirety where counsel established the total amount of fees incurred but failed to make

any allocation between those fees incurred for the successful prosecution of his client's claim and those incurred in the defense of claims by the adverse party. Id., 609 P.2d 1331. The party claiming fees has the burden of producing evidence to substantiate its claim for attorney's fees. FMA Financial Corp. vs. Build, Inc., 17 Utah 2d 80, 85, 404 P.2d 670, 673-74 (1975).

With those principles in mind, we turn to the affidavits in support of the attorney's fee claims. The Affidavit of Attorney Fees and Memorandum of Costs and Expenses submitted on behalf of Graco by JoAnn B. Stringham (a portion of Ex. "J;" Add. "4") shows in paragraph 3 thereof that suit was initially brought against Lantz Drilling and Exploration, Inc. rather than the instant defendants, but that that suit was dismissed due to Lantz' having filed for bankruptcy. (See also paragraph 2 of Affidavit of Costs and Attorney Fees attached to Ex. "G".) In paragraph 4 of her affidavit, Ms. Stringham states that in prosecuting that prior action, she expended 1 hour preparing the Complaint, 4 hours preparing a Pre-Judgment Writ of Attachment, .7 hours delivering the papers to the judge, and .5 hours preparing a release of the Writ and Order. Clearly, those 6.2 hours were not expended in the perfection of Graco's mechanics' lien nor in prosecuting the foreclosure thereof and the \$620.00 charged therefor must be disallowed. It is not possible to determine from the affidavit what was done with respect to the remaining \$360.00 and, therefore, that amount should also be disallowed for the reasons discussed below.

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