1987

Graco Fishing and Rental Tools v. Ironwood Exploration, Inc. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court correctly held as a matter of law that the mechanics lien statute, §38-1-3 U.C.A., applied to the equipment and material rental charges supplied by Graco on the Ironwood well. The statute as written in 1983 allows for

the imposition of rental charges, equipment sales, transportation charges which are part of the rental agreement, and repair and inspection costs to be lienable against the Ironwood oil well. Ironwood's argument that rental charges do not apply to oil and gas wells in an attempt to provide a tortured reading of the mechanics lien statute based upon the placement of semicolons within the statute itself. The trial court's ruling imposing and foreclosing the mechanics lien should be upheld in its entirety.

The attorney's fee provision of the mechanics lien statute, U.C.A. §38-1-18, do not require Graco to differentiate between its separate theories of recovery in billing its time when each of the theories of recovery are closely related factually and are cumulative remedies available to Graco under law. To require Graco to attempt to differentiate between its three affirmative theories of recovery would present enormous ethical and practical problems for the attorney billing his house to different theories of recovery on the same facts. The trial court correctly granted Graco judgment on the award of attorney's fees.

The contractors bond statute, U.C.A. §14-2-1, applies to the Ironwood oil well and the services provided by Graco. Because Ironwood failed to require Lantz to post a performance bond Graco is entitled to judgment against Ironwood for the full amount of the contract owed of \$30,499.43 or, in the

alternative, for the remaining \$10,733.07 not covered by the mechanics lien statute as it was for services on a separate well location on which no lien was filed.

Ironwood has been unjustly enriched in the amount of at least \$10,035.32 because Graco provided \$30,499.43 worth of services to Lantz on Ironwood wells and Ironwood still owes Lantz \$10,035.32 on its contract with Lantz. If Ironwood is allowed to keep this amount Ironwood will be unjustly enriched both in the amount it owes to Lantz and in the amount of services Graco provided that have yet to be compensated. Graco requests judgment against Ironwood in the amount of \$10,035.32 as unjust enrichment.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT GRACO IS ENTITLED TO A LIEN FOR THE SERVICES IT PROVIDED.

A restatement of the facts indicates that the trial court granted judgment on Graco's mechanics lien claim in the amount of \$19,766.36. This claim is governed by the provisions of §38-1-3 U.C.A. as it existed in 1983 and 1984.

The mechanics lien statute as it was in effect in 1983 provided:

Contractors, subcontractors and all persons performing any services or furnishing or renting any materials or equipment used in the construction, alteration, or improvement of any building or structure or improvement to any premises in any manner; all persons who shall do work or furnish materials for the prospecting, development, preservation or

working of any mining claim, mine, quarry, oil or gas well, or deposit; and licensed architects and engineers and artisans who have furnished designs, plats, plans, maps, specifications, drawings, estimates of cost, surveys or superintendence, or who have rendered other like professional service, or bestowed labor, shall have a lien upon the property or concerning which they have rendered service, performed labor or furnished or rented materials or equipment for the value of the service rendered, labor performed or materials or equipment furnished or rented by each respectively, whether at the instance of the owner or of any other person acting by his authority as agent, contractor or otherwise. Such liens shall attach only to such interest as the owner may have in the property, but the interest of a lessee of a mining claim, mine or deposit, whether working under bond or otherwise, shall for the purposes of this chapter include products mined and excavated while the same remain upon the premises included within the lease.

In construing the meaning of any statute, the Court should give a plain reading to the act in question, and in the case of ambiguity, should give primary effect to the intent of the Legislature. Christensen v. Industrial Commission, 692 P.2d 755 (Utah 1982). As the Court of Appeals stated in State v. Jones, 55 Utah Adv. Rep. 60:

One of the fundamental rules of statutory construction is that the statute should be looked at as a whole and in light of the general purpose it was intended to serve; and should be so interpreted and applied as to accomplish that objective. In order to give the statute the implementation which will fulfill its purpose, reason and intention sometimes prevail over technically applied literalness. State v. Jones, 55 Utah Adv. Rep. 60, 62 (Utah App. 1987) (quoting Andrus v. Allred, 17 Utah 2d 106, 109, 404 P.2d 972, 972 (1965)).

Moreover, because mechanics lien statutes are remedial in nature, the Act should be liberally construed in favor of the lien claimant. Calder Bros. v. Anderson, 652 P.2d 922, 924 (Utah 1982). With these general tenants of statutory construction in mind, the mechanics lien statute will be analyzed in relation to rental charges, equipment sales, transportation charges, and repairs as they apply.

1. Rental Charges.

Prior to 1981 the mechanics lien statute failed to provide a lien for rental charges. In 1981 the Legislature, through Ch. 170 1981 Utah Laws amended U.C.A. §38-1-3, to allow those renting materials or equipment the benefit of the mechanics lien statutes. The relevant part of §38-1-3 as amended in 1981 is one long sentence divided into sections by semicolons. The defendants have numbered the sections divided in to semicolons and are claiming that the rental provisions only apply to the first and third sections of the Act. The second section dealing with "a person who shall do work or furnish materials for prospecting, development, preservation or working on any mining claim, mine quarry or oil or gas well or deposit; . . ." according to Ironwood does not apply to rental charges because the Legislature did not specifically amend this second section to state "renting" materials. This argument leads to the absurd conclusion that this second section then is a separate sentence of the Act which stands by

itself. A reading of the above section clearly indicates that this "section" must be read in conjunction with some other part of the Act in order to be a sentence at all. A proper reading of the section is:

All persons who shall do work or furnish materials for the prospecting, development, preservation or working of any . . . oil and gas well . . . shall have a lien upon the property upon or concerning which they have rendered service, performed labor or furnished or rented materials, or equipment for the value of the service rendered, labor performed or materials or equipment furnished or rented by each respectively . . . (emphasis added)

Thus under the plain meaning of the amended Act, and the only rational reading of the Act as a whole, Graco is entitled to a lien for the rental charges on the oil and gas well subject to this action.

Assuming arguendo there is an ambiguity as to the effect of the amendment, the Court may examine the title to the act for guidance as to the intent of the Legislature. Sutherland Statutory Construction §22.29, Vol. 1A p. 263 (1985 Revision). The title of the 1981 Amendment states:

An Act Relating to Liens; Providing Protection for Persons Who Rent Equipment or Materials Under the Mechanics' Lien Statute.

The Legislature intended to amend the entire Act not just the first and third sections as alleged by Ironwood. As such the rental charges were properly foreclosed under the mechanics lien statute.

2. Equipment Sales.

As the facts indicate, the invoice also charges \$5,919.14 for equipment furnished as part of the overall rental agreement. Defendants cite Stanton v. Transportation Company v. Davis, 9 Utah 2d 184, 341 P.2d 207 (1959) for the proposition that, for material to be lienable, the material must be consumed in its use. Stanton at 341 P.2d 211.

The quote in Stanton however dealt with the claimants attempt to obtain a lien for such items as "wrenches, screwdrivers, and other tools, parts, wire brooms and supplies sold to the (driller) by (claimant) for which the former did not pay." Id. Stanton 9 Utah 2d at 190.

In the case at hand there is nothing in the record as to what happened to the drill pipe or gaskets. Ironwood states that the bits were presumably removed upon completion of the project. Because, however, this factual allegation is unsupported in the record and was not challenged at the trial court level by affidavit, the factual determination that the drill pipe and gaskets were part of the lien should not be disturbed on appeal. Even if Stanton prohibits the plaintiff from using the lien laws to recover the cost of equipment sold, the Legislature amended §38-1-3 U.C.A. in 1981 to allow a lien for "equipment furnished." The amendment protects those providing equipment under a rental agreement because the pipe and gaskets are equipment. Under the former law, these

items had to fall under the definition of materials prior to the amended Act. In 1981 the Legislature broadened the definition of what is lienable to include equipment. As such, the 1981 amendment renders some of the language in Stanton obsolete. The equipment sales are so directly intertwined to the rental agreement that they are lienable under U.C.A. §38-1-3.

3. Transportation Charges.

The Graco lien included \$2712.14 in transportation charges. The charges in question were necessary to transport the rental equipment to and from the site. Ironwood once again cites Stanton for the proposition that transportation charges are not lienable.

This argument ignores the post-Stanton plain language of the 1981 amendment that allows a lien for rental equipment charges. The transportation charges are part and parcel of the rental agreement and are a major cost of doing business in the rental market. The transportation charges on rentals are different from that on sales because the equipment rental involved in renting services also includes equipment servicing, repairs and transportation, all of which are rental charges. The Legislature broadened the definition of rental equipment liens to expressly protect subcontractors providing these services. As such, §38-1-3 U.C.A., as was in effect in 1983, applied to transportation charges when they are incurred as part of the rental services performed and Stanton is inapplicable in this context.

4. Repair charges.

Ironwood disputes the \$1096.00 charges for repairs to and inspection of the rental equipment. Again Ironwood cites Stanton to support the proposition that such charges are not proper subjects of the lien.

These charges are once again part of the overall rental services which are lienable pursuant to the 1981 amendment to the mechanics lien statute. Since Graco is obligated to keep its rental equipment in good repair, inspection and repair expenses are part of the necessary expenses lienable pursuant to the 1981 amendments absent summary judgment affidavits to the contrary. Graco's charges for inspection and repair are its responsibilities under its contract and are lienable pursuant to §38-1-3 U.C.A. as amended.

POINT II

GRACO IS ENTITLED TO ATTORNEYS' FEES BECAUSE IT PREVAILED IN ITS AFFIRMATIVE CAUSE OF ACTION AND GRACO NEED NOT DISTINGUISH BETWEEN TIME SPENT SEPARATE BUT CLOSELY INTERRELATED THEORIES OF RECOVERY.

In the trial court action Graco prevailed in its lien claimed and filed affidavits claiming attorneys' fees of \$3798.75, pursuant to U.C.A. §38-1-18, which provides:

In any action brought to enforce any lien under this chapter the successful party shall be entitled to recover a reasonable attorney's fee, to be fixed by the court, which shall be taxed as costs in the action. (Emphasis added)

This section provides for an award of attorney's fees whenever a party prevails on a lien foreclosure. See Petty Investment Co. v. Miller, 576 P.2d 883 (Utah 1978).

Ironwood claims however that Graco must distinguish between time spent on the lien foreclosure and time spent on Graco's other two theories. In support thereof, Ironwood cites Nelson v. Newman, 583 P.2d 601 (Utah 1978); Utah Farm Production Credit Association v. Cox, 627 P.2d 62 (Utah 1981); Stubbs v. Hemert, 567 P.2d 168 (Utah 1977); Imperial-Yuma Production v. Hunter, 609 P.2d 1329 (Utah 1980); and FMA Financial Corp. v. Build, Inc., 17 Utah 2d 80, 404 P.2d 670 (Utah 1975).

None of the above cases support the proposition that Graco must distinguish between attorney's fees spent on the lien foreclosure and attorney's fees spent on the contractors bond statute and quantum meruit theories. Nelson v. Newman; Utah Farm Credit Association v. Cox; Stubbs v. Hemert; and Imperial-Yuma Production v. Hunter all hold that a party must separate time spent on successfully prosecuting an action where attorney's fees are available from time spent defending a counterclaim. See Nelson v. Newman, 583 P.2d at 604; Utah Farm Credit Association v. Cox, 627 P.2d at 66; Stubbs v. Hemert, 567 P.2d at 171; and Imperial-Yuma Production v. Hunter, 609 P.2d at 1331. Moreover, FMA Financial Corp., supra, held that there must be evidence of the time spent on

the case. A flat rate without anything further does not meet the plaintiffs burden of proof. FMA Financial Corp. v. Build, Inc., 17 Utah 2d at 85-86.

In the case at hand Graco pursued the same cause of action under three different theories of relief. Graco incurred no attorney's fees defending a counterclaim and submitted a detailed affidavit regarding hours spent on the clients case.

This Court recognizes that the remedies provided under the Mechanics' Lien Act are cumulative and do not diminish in any way a claimants rights to enforce the obligation of contracts or any other remedy the claimant may have. Harris-Dudley Plbg. v. Prof. United World Travel, 592 P.2d 586, 588 (Utah 1979). Because Graco's remedies are cumulative, the cases cited by Ironwood regarding counterclaims are inapplicable to this case.

Moreover, to require Graco to differentiate between time spent on separate but closely interrelated theories for relief would lead to billing difficulties, and an unrealistic, arbitrary division of time. For example, factual investigation mostly likely would apply to all three theories for relief. If the fact investigation benefited all three theories, billing would be difficult.

In this situation, an attorney must either bill the investigative time equally in thirds to each theory thereby unnecessarily benefiting the defendant or must unrealistically

bill all time but essential legal research on alternative theories to the theory providing for an award of attorneys fees, which of course would most benefit the client. Either scenario provides an ethically difficult decision.

The more workable alternative is for the Court to award reasonable attorney's fees when a party prevails under the lien statute regardless of other theories the party pleaded. The fees cannot be claimed for defense of the counterclaim and what is a reasonable attorney's fee has always been a function of the trial court, and should remain so without imposing unrealistic restrictions on attorney billing practices.

POINT III

THE CONTRACTORS BOND STATUTE, U.C.A. §14-2-1 ET SEQ., APPLIES TO IRONWOOD'S FAILURE TO OBTAIN A CONTRACTORS BOND FROM LANTZ.

As the facts indicate, defendant Ironwood failed to require a contractors bond from Lantz. (F.5) The contractors bond statute in force during the time period relevant to this case states:

The owner of any interest in land entering into a contract, involving \$2,000 or more, for the construction, addition to, alteration, or repair of any building, structure, or improvement upon land shall, before any such work is commenced, obtain from the contractor a bond in a sum equal to the contract price, with good and sufficient sureties, conditioned for the faithful performance of the contract and prompt payment for materials furnished and labor performed under the contract. This bond runs to the owner and to all other persons as

their interest may appear. Any person who has furnished any materials or performed labor for or upon any such building, structure, or improvement, for which payment has not been made, has a direct right of action against the sureties upon such bond for the reasonable value of the rented materials or equipment furnished, for the reasonable value of the materials furnished, or for labor performed, not exceeding the prices agreed upon. This right of action accrues 40 days after the completion, abandonment, or default in the performance of the work provided for in the contract.

This bond shall be exhibited to any person interested, upon request.

The issue in this case is whether the contractors bond statute applies to the rental services provided by Graco but not paid for by either Lantz or Ironwood.

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